
If this page is the only one that appears, download the document to your desktop and open 

the file from there.

 

 

The second pdf contains a composite of correspondence and related text files. Excel files and 

other file types are attached in this portfolio as separate documents 

according to the date they were received. 

 

Please read the '0-Read This First' document for instructions if you have trouble opening the 

attached files.





Separate excel documents 
Excel document(s) for this project’s review process are 
included as separate document(s) within the Portfolio file. 
They are listed by the date (YYYYMMDD) they were 
received by the Air Permits Division.  
For example: 


20190910_NSR workbook.xlsx 


20190821_NSR calculations.xlsx 


20190712_NSR calculations.xlsx 


20190604_NSR workbook.xlsx 


20190206_NSR workbook.xlsx 


20181219_NSR workbook.xlsx 


20181011_NSR calculations.xlsx 


20180923_NSR workbook.xlsx 


 
Extracting EXCEL files  


If you get an error message when trying to open an excel document 
that is attached within this Portfolio file, you can extract the selected 
file and save it to your computer by choosing “File” from the menu, 
then “Extract File from Portfolio…” 


 
If you do not have Excel on your computer you can view these 
documents at the TCEQ Central File Room. 
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From: Primavera Trevino 
Sent: Friday, February 14, 2025 2:24 PM 
To: rogersmith@laytonee.com 
Subject: Technical Review -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith,  


 


The OP-CRO1 that was submitted for Tom Star indicated that he is the Duly Authorized 


Representative, however we have Tom Star as the Responsible Official on record and in the 


Certificate of Receipt in STEERS.  


 


Please verify Tom Star is the Responsible Official and not the Duly Authorized Representative 


and revise the OP-CRO1 as necessary by 02/21/2025. Please contact me with any questions, 


thank you.   


 


 
Primavera Treviño 


Environmental Permit Specialist 


Operating Permits Section 


Office of Air – Air Permits Division 


Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov 


Phone: (512) 239-6209 


  
 


How are we doing? Fill out our online customer satisfaction 


       survery at www.tceq.texas.gov/customersurvey 


 
 


   



mailto:Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov

http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTgxMTAyLjk3MDg5MTgxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE4MTEwMi45NzA4OTE4MSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3MzIwMjU1JmVtYWlsaWQ9ZGlhbm5lLmFuZGVyc29uQHRjZXEudGV4YXMuZ292JnVzZXJpZD1kaWFubmUuYW5kZXJzb25AdGNlcS50ZXhhcy5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&104&&&http://www.tceq.texas.gov/goto/customersurvey





From: Primavera Trevino 
Sent: Thursday, February 13, 2025 3:32 PM 
To: rogersmith@laytonee.com 
Subject: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith,  


 


I have not received the hard copy of the OP-CRO1 as of today. There seems to be an issue with 


the mail that I am not sure of. I will need the OP-CRO1 to be submitted through STEERS.  


 


Please upload a copy of the emailed version through STEERS by 02/14/2025. If you need more 


time or any more information please contact me, thank you.  


 
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





From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Sent: Thursday, January 30, 2025 4:29 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
USPS 
 
Tracking #:          70220410000303302980 
 


From: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, January 30, 2025 3:20 PM 
To: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Subject: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good afternoon,  


 


Can you please send the tracking information provided for the mail sent so we are able to keep 


track of it. Mail sent to our address is sent directly to our buildings, I’m not sure why it seems to 


be at a different location.  


 


If you can submit the OP-CRO1 through STEERS I will be able to access it immediately and 


continue with the project. I will provide a link to the STEERS guidance document in case it may 


be useful. Where to Submit FOP Applications and Permit-Related Documents - Texas 


Commission on Environmental Quality - www.tceq.texas.gov 


 


Please contact me if you have any questions, thank you.  


 
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


 
 


   



https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.tceq.texas.gov%2Fpermitting%2Fair%2Ftitlev%2Fsubmittal.html&data=05%7C02%7CPrimavera.Trevino%40tceq.texas.gov%7Ccd4d2f35415048015f7908dd417d7555%7C871a83a4a1ce4b7a81563bcd93a08fba%7C0%7C0%7C638738729287838116%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=E8sGAerHDHSLLThs%2BnlQa9kbtpa1vpyq%2FRJ%2FrJOL8rE%3D&reserved=0
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


 
 


   



https://www.tceq.texas.gov/permitting/air/titlev/submittal.html

https://www.tceq.texas.gov/permitting/air/titlev/submittal.html
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http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTgxMTAyLjk3MDg5MTgxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE4MTEwMi45NzA4OTE4MSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3MzIwMjU1JmVtYWlsaWQ9ZGlhbm5lLmFuZGVyc29uQHRjZXEudGV4YXMuZ292JnVzZXJpZD1kaWFubmUuYW5kZXJzb25AdGNlcS50ZXhhcy5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&104&&&http://www.tceq.texas.gov/goto/customersurvey





From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Sent: Thursday, January 16, 2025 2:46 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino 
Cc: Rhyan Stone 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good afternoon,  
 
Since my assistance has not been able to locate tracking info, I’ll go ahead and ask her to send a certified 
copy to the address below.  
 
Thanks,  
 
 
Roger Smith, PE 


 
Environmental Engineer 
Office: 205.951.3700  
Direct: 205.580.1946 
Mobile: 205.777.7033  
 


 
 


From: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2025 11:17 AM 
To: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Cc: Rhyan Stone <Rhyan.Stone@tceq.texas.gov> 
Subject: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith,  


 


I wanted to follow up on the mailed hard copy of the OP-CRO1. As of now I have not received 


any mail and am reaching out to see if you are able to send the delivery confirmation or 


clarification to where the mail was delivered to. I have provided the two mail addresses below if 


needed.  


 


Regular, Certified, Priority Mail: 


Primavera Trevino 


Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 


Operating Permits Section (OPS), MC 163 


P.O. Box 13087, Austin, Texas 78711-3087 


 


Hand Delivery or Overnight Mail: 


Primavera Trevino 







Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 


Air Permits Initial Review Team (APIRT), MC 161 


12100 Park 35 Circle, Building C, Third Floor, Austin, Texas 78753 


Phone: (512) 239-1250 


 


Please respond to this email by 1/22/25 and contact me if you have any questions, thank you.  


 


 
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

https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Flinks.govdelivery.com%2Ftrack%3Ftype%3Dclick%26enid%3DZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTgxMTAyLjk3MDg5MTgxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE4MTEwMi45NzA4OTE4MSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3MzIwMjU1JmVtYWlsaWQ9ZGlhbm5lLmFuZGVyc29uQHRjZXEudGV4YXMuZ292JnVzZXJpZD1kaWFubmUuYW5kZXJzb25AdGNlcS50ZXhhcy5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg%3D%3D%26%26%26104%26%26%26http%3A%2F%2Fwww.tceq.texas.gov%2Fgoto%2Fcustomersurvey&data=05%7C02%7CPrimavera.Trevino%40tceq.texas.gov%7C291bdddc03e54fb51e7a08dd366ec80a%7C871a83a4a1ce4b7a81563bcd93a08fba%7C0%7C0%7C638726571619081641%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=9XRRs6b1rvwgzS0dw7QCdoBEY6gOyEOryr%2FI9Gvg22Y%3D&reserved=0





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
Sent: Thursday, January 9, 2025 11:41 AM 
To: Roger Smith 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good morning, 


 


Can you please send the delivery confirmation for clarification to where the mail was delivered 


to. 


 


Thank you, 


Primavera Treviño 


(512) 239-6209 


 


From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com>  
Sent: Thursday, January 9, 2025 11:01 AM 
To: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov> 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good morning, 
 
The signed OP-CRO1 was mailed to the TCEQ headquarters on 12/23/24.  
 
Thank you, 
 
 
Roger Smith, PE 


 
Environmental Engineer 
Office: 205.951.3700  
Direct: 205.580.1946 
Mobile: 205.777.7033  
 


 
 


From: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, January 8, 2025 1:49 PM 
To: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Subject: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good afternoon,  


 


I wanted to follow up on the submitted OP-CRO1. It was previously sent through email but will 


need to be submitted through STEERS or can be sent as a hard copy to the TCEQ Headquarters.  



mailto:Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov

mailto:rogersmith@laytonee.com





 


Please respond to this email by 1/22/24.  


 


 


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
Sent: Monday, December 23, 2024 1:22 PM 
To: Roger Smith 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good afternoon,  


 


The OP-CRO1 will need to be submitted through STEERS or can be sent as a hard copy to the 


TCEQ Headquarters.  


 


Please let me know if you have any questions. Thank you and I hope you have an enjoyable 


holiday break as well. 


 


Primavera Treviño 


(512) 239-6209 


From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com>  
Sent: Monday, December 23, 2024 12:50 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov> 
Cc: Tom Star (tstar@americanbathgroup.com) <tstar@americanbathgroup.com> 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Ms. Treviño, 
 
Signed OP-CRO1 certifying the WDP comments attached.  
 
I hope you have an enjoyable holiday season.  
 
Thanks, 
 
Roger Smith, PE 


 
Environmental Engineer 
Office: 205.951.3700  
Direct: 205.580.1946 
Mobile: 205.777.7033  
 


 
 


From: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2024 2:45 PM 
To: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith, 
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I have revised the working draft permit to incorporate the addition of the new NSR permit and 


the removal of the previous permit. I have attached the revised working draft permit for your 


reference.  


 


Please submit a hard copy OP-CRO1 to certify the working draft permit comments. In the 


meantime, I will prepare the public announcement letter for mail out. You can also certify the 


comments via STEERS in lieu of the OP-CRO1.  


 


Please submit the OP-CRO1 certification by 12/27/2024.  


 


Thank you, 


Primavera Treviño 


(512) 239-6209 


From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, December 18, 2024 5:25 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov> 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Good evening,  
 
I have completed a review of the WDP for Aquatic.  
 
The only comment I have is in regards to the referenced NSR permit. The new NSR Permit No. 174908 
was issued on 10/07/2024 and will be effective until 10/07/2034. I have updated the WDP with this new 
permit authorization reference.  
 
Please let me know if you have any questions regarding this comment/update request.  
 
Thank you, 
 
 
Roger Smith, PE 


 
Environmental Engineer 
Office: 205.951.3700  
Direct: 205.580.1946 
Mobile: 205.777.7033  
 


 
 


From: Primavera Trevino <Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, December 11, 2024 3:00 PM 
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To: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Subject: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith,  


 


I have conducted a technical review of minor revision application for Aquatics Inc., Aquatic. An 


electronic copy of the Working Draft Permit (WDP) is attached for your review. This WDP 


contains the TCEQ determination of applicable requirements based on the information submitted 


in your application, and any updates provided.  


 


Please review the WDP and submit to me any comments you have on the working draft permit 


by 12/18/2024.  


 


Please review the second portion of the “SOP Technical Review Fact Sheet” located at 


http://www.tceq.texas.gov/assets/public/permitting/air/Guidance/Title_V/sop_wdp_factsheet.pdf. 


This guidance contains important information regarding WDP review and comment procedures.  


 


Note that a Certification by Responsible Official (Form OP-CRO1) for any uncertified 


application information, including application updates supporting the WDP comments, is 


required.   After final review of the WDP, additional changes supported by application updates 


may require certification. I will advise you of these changes at a later date.  Prior to transmittal of 


the Public Notice/Announcement Authorization Package, a duly signed OP-CRO1 form may be 


required which includes the specific dates or time-period of all submitted application 


documentation that was not previously certified.  I will advise you of this requirement prior to 


sending the Public Notice/Announcement Authorization. 


 


Application updates may now be submitted through Title V STEERS. Any application updates 


that are submitted by the RO/DAR through STEERS are certified and do not require the 


submittal of an original signature OP-CRO1. Application updates that are provided through 


email or physical mail require certification using an original signature OP-CRO1. 


 


Please notify me when these updates have been submitted. 


 


As required on Form OP-1, question IV.D, please remember the FOP application and all 


application updates must be submitted to EPA Region 6 at R6AirPermitsTX@epa.gov and to the 


TCEQ regional office having jurisdiction. This submittal information can be found on our 


website at Where to Submit FOP Applications and Permit-Related Documents. 


 


Contact me if you have any questions regarding the guidelines, the project schedule, or any other 


details regarding your application or permit. 


 


 


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


  
 


 
  


 


How are we doing?  Fill out our online customer satisfaction survey 


at www.tceq.texas.gov/customersurvey 
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From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Sent: Monday, December 23, 2024 12:50 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino 
Cc: Tom Star (tstar@americanbathgroup.com) 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 
Attachments: 202412_OP-CRO1_O-1063 WDP comments - signed.pdf 


 
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
Attachments: SOP - O1063 Aquatics Inc. (Minor, 37277).docx 


 
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
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FEDERAL OPERATING PERMIT 


A FEDERAL OPERATING PERMIT IS HEREBY ISSUED TO 


Aquatics, Inc. 


AUTHORIZING THE OPERATION OF 


Aquatic 


Plastics Plumbing Fixture Manufacturing 


LOCATED AT 


Dallas County, Texas 


Latitude 32° 36′ 40″   Longitude 96° 44′ 30″  


Regulated Entity Number:  RN100219104 


 
This permit is issued in accordance with and subject to the Texas Clean Air Act (TCAA), Chapter 382 of 
the Texas Health and Safety Code and Title 30 Texas Administrative Code Chapter 122 
(30 TAC Chapter 122), Federal Operating Permits.  Under 30 TAC Chapter 122, this permit constitutes 
the permit holder’s authority to operate the site and emission units listed in this permit.  Operations of the 
site and emission units listed in this permit are subject to all additional rules or amended rules and orders 
of the Commission pursuant to the TCAA. 
 
This permit does not relieve the permit holder from the responsibility of obtaining New Source Review 
authorization for new, modified, or existing facilities in accordance with 30 TAC Chapter 116, Control of 
Air Pollution by Permits for New Construction or Modification. 
 
The site and emission units authorized by this permit shall be operated in accordance with 
30 TAC Chapter 122, the general terms and conditions, special terms and conditions, and attachments 
contained herein. 
 
This permit shall expire five years from the date of issuance.  The renewal requirements specified in 
30 TAC § 122.241 must be satisfied in order to renew the authorization to operate the site and emission 
units. 
 


 Permit No:  O1063 Issuance Date:     


   
  For the Commission 
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General Terms and Conditions 


The permit holder shall comply with all terms and conditions contained in 30 TAC § 122.143 (General 
Terms and Conditions), 30 TAC § 122.144 (Recordkeeping Terms and Conditions), 30 TAC § 122.145 
(Reporting Terms and Conditions), and 30 TAC § 122.146 (Compliance Certification Terms and 
Conditions). 
 
In accordance with 30 TAC § 122.144(1), records of required monitoring data and support information 
required by this permit, or any applicable requirement codified in this permit, are required to be 
maintained for a period of five years from the date of the monitoring report, sample, or application unless 
a longer data retention period is specified in an applicable requirement.  The five year record retention 
period supersedes any less stringent retention requirement that may be specified in a condition of a 
permit identified in the New Source Review Authorization attachment. 
 
If the permit holder chooses to demonstrate that this permit is no longer required, a written request to void 
this permit shall be submitted to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) by the 
Responsible Official in accordance with 30 TAC § 122.161(e).  The permit holder shall comply with the 
permit’s requirements, including compliance certification and deviation reporting, until notified by the 
TCEQ that this permit is voided. 
 
The permit holder shall comply with 30 TAC Chapter 116 by obtaining a New Source Review 
authorization prior to new construction or modification of emission units located in the area covered by 
this permit. 
 
All reports required by this permit must include in the submittal a cover letter which identifies the following 
information:  company name, TCEQ regulated entity number, air account number (if assigned), site name, 
area name (if applicable), and Air Permits Division permit number(s). 
 
Special Terms and Conditions: 


Emission Limitations and Standards, Monitoring and Testing, and Recordkeeping and Reporting 


1. Permit holder shall comply with the following requirements: 


A. Emission units (including groups and processes) in the Applicable Requirements 
Summary attachment shall meet the limitations, standards, equipment specifications, 
monitoring, recordkeeping, reporting, testing, and other requirements listed in the 
Applicable Requirements Summary attachment to assure compliance with the permit. 


B. The textual description in the column titled “Textual Description” in the Applicable 
Requirements Summary attachment is not enforceable and is not deemed as a substitute 
for the actual regulatory language.  The Textual Description is provided for information 
purposes only. 


C. A citation listed on the Applicable Requirements Summary attachment, which has a 
notation [G] listed before it, shall include the referenced section and subsection for all 
commission rules, or paragraphs for all federal and state regulations and all subordinate 
paragraphs, subparagraphs and clauses, subclauses, and items contained within the 
referenced citation as applicable requirements. 


D. When a grouped citation, notated with a [G] in the Applicable Requirements Summary, 
contains multiple compliance options, the permit holder must keep records of when each 
compliance option was used. 
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E. Emission units subject to 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart WWWW as identified in the attached 
Applicable Requirements Summary table are subject to 30 TAC Chapter 113, 
Subchapter C, § 113.1060 which incorporates the 40 CFR Part 63 Subpart by reference. 


2. The permit holder shall comply with the following sections of 30 TAC Chapter 101 (General Air 
Quality Rules): 


A. Title 30 TAC § 101.1 (relating to Definitions), insofar as the terms defined in this section 
are used to define the terms used in other applicable requirements 


B. Title 30 TAC § 101.3 (relating to Circumvention) 


C. Title 30 TAC § 101.8 (relating to Sampling), if such action has been requested by the 
TCEQ 


D. Title 30 TAC § 101.9 (relating to Sampling Ports), if such action has been requested by 
the TCEQ 


E. Title 30 TAC § 101.10 (relating to Emissions Inventory Requirements) 


F. Title 30 TAC § 101.201 (relating to Emission Event Reporting and Recordkeeping 
Requirements) 


G. Title 30 TAC § 101.211 (relating to Scheduled Maintenance, Start-up, and Shutdown 
Reporting and Recordkeeping Requirements) 


H. Title 30 TAC § 101.221 (relating to Operational Requirements) 


I. Title 30 TAC § 101.222 (relating to Demonstrations) 


J. Title 30 TAC § 101.223 (relating to Actions to Reduce Excessive Emissions) 


3. Permit holder shall comply with the following requirements of 30 TAC Chapter 111: 


A. Visible emissions from stationary vents with a flow rate of less than 100,000 actual cubic 
feet per minute and constructed after January 31, 1972 that are not listed in the 
Applicable Requirements Summary attachment for 30 TAC Chapter 111, Subchapter A, 
Division 1, shall not exceed 20% opacity averaged over a six-minute period.  The permit 
holder shall comply with the following requirements for stationary vents at the site subject 
to this standard: 


(i) Title 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(B) (relating to Requirements for Specified Sources) 


(ii) Title 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(E) 


(iii) Title 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(F)(i), (ii), (iii), or (iv) 


(iv) For emission units with vent emissions subject to 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(B), 
complying with 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(F)(ii), (iii), or (iv), and capable of 
producing visible emissions from, but not limited to, particulate matter, acid gases 
and NOx, the permit holder shall also comply with the following periodic 
monitoring requirements for the purpose of annual compliance certification under 
30 TAC § 122.146.  These periodic monitoring requirements do not apply to 
vents that are not capable of producing visible emissions such as vents that emit 
only colorless VOCs; vents from non-fuming liquids; vents that provide passive 
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ventilation, such as plumbing vents; or vent emissions from any other source that 
does not obstruct the transmission of light.  Vents, as specified in the “Applicable 
Requirements Summary” attachment, that are subject to the emission limitation 
of 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(B)  are not subject to the following periodic monitoring 
requirements: 


(1) An observation of stationary vents from emission units in operation shall 
be conducted at least once during each calendar quarter unless the 
emission unit is not operating for the entire quarter. 


(2) For stationary vents from a combustion source, if an alternative to the 
normally fired fuel is fired for a period greater than or equal to 
24 consecutive hours, the permit holder shall conduct an observation of 
the stationary vent for each such period to determine if visible emissions 
are present.  If such period is greater than 3 months, observations shall 
be conducted once during each quarter.  Supplementing the normally 
fired fuel with natural gas or fuel gas to increase the net heating value to 
the minimum required value does not constitute creation of an alternative 
fuel. 


(3) Records of all observations shall be maintained. 


(4) Visible emissions observations of emission units operated during daylight 
hours shall be conducted no earlier than one hour after sunrise and no 
later than one hour before sunset.  Visible emissions observations of 
emission units operated only at night must be made with additional 
lighting and the temporary installation of contrasting backgrounds.  
Visible emissions observations shall be made during times when the 
activities described in 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(E) are not taking place.  
Visible emissions shall be determined with each stationary vent in clear 
view of the observer.  The observer shall be at least 15 feet, but not 
more than 0.25 mile, away from each stationary vent during the 
observation.  For outdoor locations, the observer shall select a position 
where the sun is not directly in the observer’s eyes.  When condensed 
water vapor is present within the plume, as it emerges from the 
emissions outlet, observations must be made beyond the point in the 
plume at which condensed water vapor is no longer visible.  When water 
vapor within the plume condenses and becomes visible at a distance 
from the emissions outlet, the observation shall be evaluated at the outlet 
prior to condensation of water vapor.  A certified opacity reader is not 
required for visible emissions observations. 


(5) Compliance Certification: 


(a) If visible emissions are not present during the observation, the 
RO may certify that the source is in compliance with the 
applicable opacity requirement in 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1) and 
(a)(1)(B). 


(b) However, if visible emissions are present during the observation, 
the permit holder shall either list this occurrence as a deviation 
on the next deviation report as required under 
30 TAC § 122.145(2) or conduct the appropriate opacity test 
specified in 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(1)(F) as soon as practicable, 
but no later than 24 hours after observing visible emissions to 
determine if the source is in compliance with the opacity 
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requirements.  If an opacity test is performed and the source is 
determined to be in compliance, the RO may certify that the 
source is in compliance with the applicable opacity requirement.  
However, if an opacity test is performed and the source is 
determined to be out of compliance, the permit holder shall list 
this occurrence as a deviation on the next deviation report as 
required under 30 TAC § 122.145(2).  The opacity test must be 
performed by a certified opacity reader. 


(c) Some vents may be subject to multiple visible emission or 
monitoring requirements.  All credible data must be considered 
when certifying compliance with this requirement even if the 
observation or monitoring was performed to demonstrate 
compliance with a different requirement. 


B. For visible emissions from a building, enclosed facility, or other structure; the permit 
holder shall comply with the following requirements: 


(i) Title 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(A) (relating to Requirements for Specified Sources) 


(ii) Title 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(B)(i) or (ii) 


(iii) For a building containing an air emission source, enclosed facility, or other 
structure containing or associated with an air emission source subject to 
30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(A), complying with 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(B)(i) or (ii), 
and capable of producing visible emissions from, but not limited to, particulate 
matter, acid gases and NOx, the permit holder shall also comply with the 
following periodic monitoring requirements for the purpose of annual compliance 
certification under 30 TAC § 122.146: 


(1) An observation of visible emissions from a building containing an air 
emission source, enclosed facility, or other structure containing or 
associated with an air emission source which is required to comply with 
30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(A) shall be conducted at least once during each 
calendar quarter unless the air emission source or enclosed facility is not 
operating for the entire quarter. 


(2) Records of all observations shall be maintained. 


(3) Visible emissions observations of air emission sources or enclosed 
facilities operated during daylight hours shall be conducted no earlier 
than one hour after sunrise and no later than one hour before sunset.  
Visible emissions observations of air emission sources or enclosed 
facilities operated only at night must be made with additional lighting and 
the temporary installation of contrasting backgrounds.  Visible emissions 
shall be determined with each emissions outlet in clear view of the 
observer.  The observer shall be at least 15 feet, but not more than 0.25 
mile, away from each emissions outlet during the observation.  For 
outdoor locations, the observer shall select a position where the sun is 
not directly in the observer’s eyes.  When condensed water vapor is 
present within the plume, as it emerges from the emissions outlet, 
observations must be made beyond the point in the plume at which 
condensed water vapor is no longer visible.  When water vapor within the 
plume condenses and becomes visible at a distance from the emissions 
outlet, the observation shall be evaluated at the outlet prior to 
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condensation of water vapor.  A certified opacity reader is not required 
for visible emissions observations. 


(4) Compliance Certification: 


(a) If visible emissions are not present during the observation, the 
RO may certify that the source is in compliance with the 
applicable opacity requirement in 30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7) and 
(a)(7)(A). 


(b) However, if visible emissions are present during the observation, 
the permit holder shall either list this occurrence as a deviation 
on the next deviation report as required under 30 TAC 
§ 122.145(2) or conduct the appropriate opacity test specified in 
30 TAC § 111.111(a)(7)(B) as soon as practicable, but no later 
than 24 hours after observing visible emissions to determine if 
the source is in compliance with the opacity requirements.  If an 
opacity test is performed and the source is determined to be in 
compliance, the RO may certify that the source is in compliance 
with the applicable opacity requirement.  However, if an opacity 
test is performed and the source is determined to be out of 
compliance, the permit holder shall list this occurrence as a 
deviation on the next deviation report as required under 30 TAC 
§ 122.145(2).  The opacity test must be performed by a certified 
opacity reader. 


C. Certification of opacity readers determining opacities under Method 9 (as outlined in 
40 CFR Part 60, Appendix A) to comply with opacity monitoring requirements shall be 
accomplished by completing the Visible Emissions Evaluators Course, or approved 
agency equivalent, no more than 180 days before the opacity reading. 


D. Emission limits on nonagricultural processes, except for the steam generators specified 
in 30 TAC § 111.153, shall comply with the following requirements: 


(i) Emissions of PM from any source may not exceed the allowable rates as 
required in 30 TAC § 111.151(a) (relating to Allowable Emissions Limits) 


(ii) Sources with an effective stack height (he) less than the standard effective stack 
height (He), must reduce the allowable emission level by multiplying it by [he/He]2 
as required in 30 TAC § 111.151(b) 


(iii) Effective stack height shall be calculated by the equation specified in 
30 TAC § 111.151(c) 


4. The permit holder shall comply with the following requirements of 30 TAC Chapter 117: 


A. For stationary reciprocating engines exempt from Subchapter D, Division 2 at minor 
sources of NOx under 30 TAC § 117.2103, the permit holder shall comply with 
30 TAC §§ 117.2130(c), 117.2135(e), and 117.2145(b) and (c). 


5. The permit holder shall comply with the requirements of 30 TAC Chapter 113, Subchapter C, 
§ 113.100 for units subject to any subpart of 40 CFR Part 63, unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable subpart. 
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6. The permit holder shall comply with certified registrations submitted to the TCEQ for purposes of 
establishing federally enforceable emission limits.  A copy of the certified registration shall be 
maintained with the permit.  Records sufficient to demonstrate compliance with the established 
limits shall be maintained.  The certified registration and records demonstrating compliance shall 
be provided, on request, to representatives of the appropriate TCEQ regional office and any local 
air pollution control agency having jurisdiction over the site.  The permit holder shall submit 
updated certified registrations when changes at the site require establishment of new emission 
limits.  If changes result in emissions that do not remain below major source thresholds, the 
permit holder shall submit a revision application to codify the appropriate requirements in the 
permit. 


Additional Monitoring Requirements 


7. The permit holder shall comply with the periodic monitoring requirements as specified in the 
attached “Periodic Monitoring Summary” upon issuance of the permit.  Except for, as applicable, 
monitoring malfunctions, associated repairs, and required quality assurance or control activities 
(including, as applicable, calibration checks and required zero and span adjustments), the permit 
holder shall conduct all monitoring in continuous operation (or shall collect data at all required 
intervals) at all times that the pollutant-specific emissions unit is operating.  The permit holder 
may elect to collect monitoring data on a more frequent basis and average the data, consistent 
with the averaging time or minimum frequency specified in the “Periodic Monitoring Summary,” for 
purposes of determining whether a deviation has occurred.  However, the additional data points 
must be collected on a regular basis.  In no event shall data be collected and used in particular 
instances to avoid reporting deviations.  Deviations shall be reported according to 30 TAC § 
122.145 (Reporting Terms and Conditions). 


New Source Review Authorization Requirements 


8. Permit holder shall comply with the requirements of New Source Review authorizations issued or 
claimed by the permit holder for the permitted area, including permits, permits by rule (including 
the permits by rule identified in the PBR Supplemental Tables in the application), standard 
permits, flexible permits, special permits, permits for existing facilities including Voluntary 
Emissions Reduction Permits and Electric Generating Facility Permits issued under 30 TAC 
Chapter 116, Subchapter I, or special exemptions referenced in the New Source Review 
Authorization References attachment.  These requirements: 


A. Are incorporated by reference into this permit as applicable requirements 


B. Shall be located with this operating permit 


C. Are not eligible for a permit shield 


9. The permit holder shall comply with the general requirements of 30 TAC Chapter 106, 
Subchapter A or the general requirements, if any, in effect at the time of the claim of any PBR. 


10. The permit holder shall maintain records to demonstrate compliance with any emission limitation 
or standard that is specified in a permit by rule (PBR) or Standard Permit listed in the New Source 
Review Authorizations attachment.  The records shall yield reliable data from the relevant time 
period that are representative of the emission unit’s compliance with the PBR or Standard Permit.  
These records may include, but are not limited to, production capacity and throughput, hours of 
operation, safety data sheets (SDS), chemical composition of raw materials, speciation of air 
contaminant data, engineering calculations, maintenance records, fugitive data, performance 
tests, capture/control device efficiencies, direct pollutant monitoring (CEMS, COMS, or PEMS), or 
control device parametric monitoring.  These records shall be made readily accessible and 
available as required by 30 TAC § 122.144.  Any monitoring or recordkeeping data indicating 
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noncompliance with the PBR or Standard Permit shall be considered and reported as a deviation 
according to 30 TAC § 122.145 (Reporting Terms and Conditions). 


Compliance Requirements 


11. The permit holder shall certify compliance in accordance with 30 TAC § 122.146.  The permit 
holder shall comply with 30 TAC § 122.146 using at a minimum, but not limited to, the continuous 
or intermittent compliance method data from monitoring, recordkeeping, reporting, or testing 
required by the permit and any other credible evidence or information.  The certification period 
may not exceed 12 months and the certification must be submitted within 30 days after the end of 
the period being certified. 


12. Use of Emission Credits to comply with applicable requirements: 


A. Unless otherwise prohibited, the permit holder may use emission credits to comply with 
the following applicable requirements listed elsewhere in this permit: 


(i) Title 30 TAC Chapter 115 


(ii) Title 30 TAC Chapter 117 


(iii) Offsets for Title 30 TAC Chapter 116 


B. The permit holder shall comply with the following requirements in order to use the 
emission credits to comply with the applicable requirements: 


(i) The permit holder must notify the TCEQ according to 30 TAC § 101.306(c)-(d) 


(ii) The emission credits to be used must meet all the geographic, timeliness, 
applicable pollutant type, and availability requirements listed in 
30 TAC Chapter 101, Subchapter H, Division 1 


(iii) The executive director has approved the use of the credit according to 30 TAC § 
101.306(c)-(d) 


(iv) The permit holder keeps records of the use of credits towards compliance with 
the applicable requirements in accordance with 30 TAC § 101.302(g) and 
30 TAC Chapter  122 


(v) Title 30 TAC § 101.305 (relating to Emission Reductions Achieved Outside the 
United States) 


13. Use of Discrete Emission Credits to comply with the applicable requirements: 


A. Unless otherwise prohibited, the permit holder may use discrete emission credits to 
comply with the following applicable requirements listed elsewhere in this permit: 


(i) Title 30 TAC Chapter 115 


(ii) Title 30 TAC Chapter 117 


(iii) If applicable, offsets for Title 30 TAC Chapter 116 


(iv) Temporarily exceed state NSR permit allowables 
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B. The permit holder shall comply with the following requirements in order to use the credit 
to comply with the applicable requirements: 


(i) The permit holder must notify the TCEQ according to 30 TAC § 101.376(d) 


(ii) The discrete emission credits to be used must meet all the geographic, 
timeliness, applicable pollutant type, and availability requirements listed in 
30 TAC Chapter 101, Subchapter H, Division 4 


(iii) The executive director has approved the use of the discrete emission credits 
according to 30 TAC § 101.376(d)(1)(A) 


(iv) The permit holder keeps records of the use of credits towards compliance with 
the applicable requirements in accordance with 30 TAC § 101.372(h) and 
30 TAC Chapter 122 


(v) Title 30 TAC § 101.375 (relating to Emission Reductions Achieved Outside the 
United States) 


Permit Location 


14. The permit holder shall maintain a copy of this permit and records related to requirements listed 
in this permit on site. 
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Attachments 


Applicable Requirements Summary 


New Source Review Authorization References 
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Applicable Requirements Summary 


Unit Summary ............................................................................................................................................ 11 
 
Applicable Requirements Summary  ...................................................................................................... 12 
 
Note:  A “none” entry may be noted for some emission sources in this permit’s “Applicable Requirements 
Summary” under the heading of “Monitoring and Testing Requirements” and/or “Recordkeeping 
Requirements” and/or “Reporting Requirements.”  Such a notation indicates that there are no 
requirements for the indicated emission source as identified under the respective column heading(s) for 
the stated portion of the regulation when the emission source is operating under the conditions of the 
specified SOP Index Number.  However, other relevant requirements pursuant to 30 TAC Chapter 122 
including Recordkeeping Terms and Conditions (30 TAC § 122.144), Reporting Terms and Conditions (30 
TAC § 122.145), and Compliance Certification Terms and Conditions (30 TAC § 122.146) continue to 
apply. 







 
Revised- Draft Page 11 


 


Unit Summary 
 


Unit/Group/ 
Process ID No. 


Unit Type Group/Inclusive 
Units 


SOP Index No. Regulation Requirement Driver 


CONC EMISSION 
POINTS/STATIONARY 
VENTS/PROCESS VENTS 


N/A R5217 30 TAC Chapter 115, Vent 
Gas Controls 


No changing attributes. 


GRPEU02 LOADING/UNLOADING 
OPERATIONS 


01001, 01010 R5217-1 30 TAC Chapter 115, 
Loading and Unloading of 
VOC 


No changing attributes. 


GRPEU02 STORAGE 
TANKS/VESSELS 


01001, 01010 R5112 30 TAC Chapter 115, 
Storage of VOCs 


No changing attributes. 


INCIN EMISSION 
POINTS/STATIONARY 
VENTS/PROCESS VENTS 


N/A R5127 30 TAC Chapter 115, Vent 
Gas Controls 


No changing attributes. 


PROCESS MISCELLANEOUS UNITS N/A 63WWWW 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart 
WWWW 


No changing attributes. 







 
Revised- Draft Page 12 


 


Applicable Requirements Summary 
 


Unit 
Group 


Process 
ID No. 


Unit 
Group 


Process 
Type 


SOP 
Index 
No. 


Pollutant State Rule or 
Federal 


Regulation 
Name 


Emission 
Limitation, 


Standard or 
Equipment 


Specification 
Citation 


Textual Description 
(See Special Term and 


Condition 1.B.) 


Monitoring 
And Testing 


Requirements 


Recordkeeping 
Requirements 


 
(30 TAC § 122.144) 


Reporting 
Requirements 


 
(30 TAC § 122.145) 


CONC EP R5217 VOC 30 TAC Chapter 
115, Vent Gas 
Controls 


§ 115.127(a)(2)(B) 
[G]§ 115.122(a)(4) 
§ 115.127(a)(2) 


A vent gas stream specified 
in § 115.121(a)(1) of this 
title with a concentration of 
VOC < 612 ppmv is exempt 
from § 115.121(a)(1). 


[G]§ 115.125 
§ 115.126(2) 


§ 115.126 
§ 115.126(2) 
§ 115.126(4) 


None 


GRPEU02 EU R5217-1 VOC 30 TAC Chapter 
115, Loading and 
Unloading of VOC 


§ 115.217(a)(1) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(B) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(D) 
§ 
115.214(a)(1)(D)(i) 


Vapor pressure (at land-
based operations).  All land-
based loading and 
unloading of VOC with a 
true vapor pressure less 
than 0.5 psia is exempt from 
the requirements of this 
division, except as 
specified. 


§ 115.214(a)(1)(A) 
§ 
115.214(a)(1)(A)(i) 
§ 115.215 
§ 115.215(4) 


§ 115.216 
§ 115.216(2) 
§ 115.216(3)(B) 


None 


GRPEU02 EU R5112 VOC 30 TAC Chapter 
115, Storage of 
VOCs 


§ 115.111(a)(1) Except as provided in § 
115.118, a storage tank 
storing VOC with a true 
vapor pressure less than 
1.5 psia is exempt from the 
requirements of this 
division. 


[G]§ 115.117 § 115.118(a)(1) 
§ 115.118(a)(5) 
§ 115.118(a)(7) 


None 


INCIN EP R5127 VOC 30 TAC Chapter 
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


PROCESS EU 63WWWW 112(B) 
HAPS 


40 CFR Part 63, 
Subpart WWWW 


§ 63.5805(a) 
§ 63.5796 
§ 63.5797 
§ 63.5798 
§ 63.5800 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
3.2 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
3.6 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
4.2 


Existing facilities must meet 
the annual average organic 
HAP emissions limits in 
Table 3 to this subpart and 
the work practice standards 
in Table 4 to this subpart as 
applicable. 


§ 63.5840 
§ 63.5845 
§ 63.5850(a) 
§ 63.5850(b) 
§ 63.5850(c) 
§ 63.5850(d) 
[G]§ 63.5850(e) 
§ 63.5850(f) 
§ 63.5850(g) 
§ 63.5850(h) 
§ 63.5855 


[G]§ 63.5915(a) 
§ 63.5915(b) 
§ 63.5915(c) 
§ 63.5915(d) 
§ 63.5920(a) 
§ 63.5920(b) 
§ 63.5920(c) 
§ 63.5920(d) 
[G]§ 63.998 


§ 63.5905(a) 
§ 63.5905(b) 
§ 63.5910(a) 
[G]§ 63.5910(b) 
[G]§ 63.5910(c) 
[G]§ 63.5910(e) 
§ 63.5910(g) 
§ 63.5910(h) 
[G]§ 63.999 
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
4.4 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
4.6 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
4.7 
§ 63.5805(a)-Table 
4.8 
§ 63.5805(g) 
§ 63.5805(h) 
§ 63.5810 
[G]§ 63.5810(a) 
[G]§ 63.5810(b) 
[G]§ 63.5810(c) 
§ 63.5810(d) 
§ 63.5835(a) 
§ 63.5835(b) 
§ 63.5835(c) 
§ 63.5835(d) 
[G]§ 63.5900(a) 
§ 63.5900(b) 
§ 63.5900(c) 
§ 63.5900(d) 
§ 63.5900(e) 
[G]§ 63.983 


§ 63.5860(a) 
§ 63.5860(b) 
§ 63.5895(a) 
[G]§ 63.5895(b) 
§ 63.5895(c) 
§ 63.5895(d) 
[G]§ 63.988(c) 
[G]§ 63.996 
[G]§ 63.997 
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New Source Review Authorization References 


New Source Review Authorization References ..................................................................................... 15 
 
New Source Review Authorization References by Emission Unit ....................................................... 16 
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New Source Review Authorization References 
 
The New Source Review authorizations listed in the table below are applicable requirements under 30 
TAC Chapter 122 and enforceable under this operating permit. 
 


Title 30 TAC Chapter 116 Permits, Special Permits, and Other Authorizations (Other Than Permits 
By Rule, PSD Permits, or NA Permits) for the Application Area. 


Authorization No.:  174908 Issuance Date:  10/07/2024 


Permits By Rule (30 TAC Chapter 106) for the Application Area 


Number:  106.262 Version No./Date:  11/01/2003 


Number:  106.433 Version No./Date:  09/04/2000 
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New Source Review Authorization References by Emissions Unit 
 
The following is a list of New Source Review (NSR) authorizations for emission units listed elsewhere in this operating permit.  The NSR authorizations are 
applicable requirements under 30 TAC Chapter 122 and enforceable under this operating permit.  
 


Unit/Group/Process 
 ID No. 


Emission Unit Name/Description New Source Review Authorization** 


01001 A10 RESIN STORAGE TANK 1 - STACK 10/11 174908 


01010 A10 RESIN STORAGE TANKS 2 - STACK 10/11 174908 


CONC ROTARY ZEOLITE CONCENTRATOR 174908 


INCIN A4 INCINERATOR 174908 


PROCESS PROCESS 174908 


**This column may include Permit by Rule (PBR) numbers and version dates, PBR Registration numbers in brackets, Standard Permit Registration numbers, 
Minor NSR permit numbers, and Major NSR permit numbers. 
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Acronym List 


 
The following abbreviations or acronyms may be used in this permit: 
 
ACFM .................................................................................................................. actual cubic feet per minute 
AMOC .................................................................................................................... alternate means of control 
ARP ................................................................................................................................... Acid Rain Program 
ASTM .......................................................................................... American Society of Testing and Materials 
B/PA .......................................................................................... Beaumont/Port Arthur (nonattainment area) 
CAM ......................................................................................................... Compliance Assurance Monitoring 
CD ............................................................................................................................................. control device 
CEMS ............................................................................................. continuous emissions monitoring system 
CFR ................................................................................................................... Code of Federal Regulations 
COMS .................................................................................................. continuous opacity monitoring system 
CVS .................................................................................................................................. closed vent system 
D/FW ................................................................................................ Dallas/Fort Worth (nonattainment area) 
EP ............................................................................................................................................. emission point 
EPA .................................................................................................... U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
EU .............................................................................................................................................. emission unit 
FCAA Amendments ............................................................................... Federal Clean Air Act Amendments 
FOP ........................................................................................................................... federal operating permit 
gr/100 scf.................................................................................................. grains per 100 standard cubic feet 
HAP .............................................................................................................................hazardous air pollutant 
H/G/B ............................................................................... Houston/Galveston/Brazoria (nonattainment area) 
H2S ........................................................................................................................................ hydrogen sulfide 
ID No. ............................................................................................................................. identification number 
lb/hr .................................................................................................................................... pound(s) per hour 
MACT ............................................................... Maximum Achievable Control Technology (40 CFR Part 63) 
MMBtu/hr ................................................................................................ Million British thermal units per hour 
NA ............................................................................................................................................ nonattainment 
N/A ............................................................................................................................................ not applicable 
NADB ............................................................................................................. National Allowance Data Base 
NESHAP................................. National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (40 CFR Part 61) 
NOx .......................................................................................................................................... nitrogen oxides 
NSPS ......................................................................... New Source Performance Standard (40 CFR Part 60) 
NSR ................................................................................................................................. New Source Review 
ORIS .............................................................................................. Office of Regulatory Information Systems 
Pb ............................................................................................................................................................. lead 
PBR ......................................................................................................................................... Permit By Rule 
PEMS ............................................................................................... predictive emissions monitoring system 
PM ....................................................................................................................................... particulate matter 
ppmv ..................................................................................................................... parts per million by volume 
PRO .............................................................................................................................................. process unit 
PSD ...................................................................................................... prevention of significant deterioration 
psia .............................................................................................................. pounds per square inch absolute 
SIP .......................................................................................................................... state implementation plan 
SO2 ............................................................................................................................................. sulfur dioxide 
TCEQ ...................................................................................... Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
TSP ...................................................................................................................... total suspended particulate 
TVP .................................................................................................................................. true vapor pressure 
U.S.C. ............................................................................................................................... United States Code 
VOC ....................................................................................................................... volatile organic compound  
 







From: Roger Smith <rogersmith@laytonee.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 18, 2024 5:25 PM 
To: Primavera Trevino 
Subject: RE: Working Draft Permit -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 
Attachments: Draft permit 1063.docx 


 
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


  
 



https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.tceq.texas.gov%2Fassets%2Fpublic%2Fpermitting%2Fair%2FGuidance%2FTitle_V%2Fsop_wdp_factsheet.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CPrimavera.Trevino%40tceq.texas.gov%7C3047160616eb44f2a62608dd1fbb27ba%7C871a83a4a1ce4b7a81563bcd93a08fba%7C0%7C0%7C638701611204394470%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=1DpkhDCpWnFxB5q%2BY47R9lPCXFxa6RwtZ2K0OAX3z8Y%3D&reserved=0

mailto:R6AirPermitsTX@epa.gov

mailto:Primavera.Trevino@tceq.texas.gov





 
  


 


How are we doing?  Fill out our online customer satisfaction survey 


at www.tceq.texas.gov/customersurvey 



https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Flinks.govdelivery.com%2Ftrack%3Ftype%3Dclick%26enid%3DZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTgxMTAyLjk3MDg5MTgxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE4MTEwMi45NzA4OTE4MSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3MzIwMjU1JmVtYWlsaWQ9ZGlhbm5lLmFuZGVyc29uQHRjZXEudGV4YXMuZ292JnVzZXJpZD1kaWFubmUuYW5kZXJzb25AdGNlcS50ZXhhcy5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg%3D%3D%26%26%26104%26%26%26http%3A%2F%2Fwww.tceq.texas.gov%2Fgoto%2Fcustomersurvey&data=05%7C02%7CPrimavera.Trevino%40tceq.texas.gov%7C3047160616eb44f2a62608dd1fbb27ba%7C871a83a4a1ce4b7a81563bcd93a08fba%7C0%7C0%7C638701611204406760%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=FdgiiB%2BgSYby%2FMZbfR6AlzqBIcuReknKAQcpPQXRMVQ%3D&reserved=0
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


 
This permit is issued in accordance with and subject to the Texas Clean Air Act (TCAA), Chapter  382 of 
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
 


 Permit No:  O1063 Issuance Date:  March 31, 2021   


   
  For the Commission 
 







 
Revised- Draft Page ii 


 


Table of Contents 
 
Section Page 


General Terms and Conditions ..................................................................................................................... 1 


Special Terms and Conditions: ..................................................................................................................... 1 
Emission Limitations and Standards, Monitoring and Testing, and Recordkeeping 


and Reporting ...................................................................................................................... 1 
Additional Monitoring Requirements ................................................................................................ 6 
New Source Review Authorization Requirements ........................................................................... 6 
Compliance Requirements ............................................................................................................... 7 
Permit Location ................................................................................................................................ 8 


Attachments .................................................................................................................................................. 9 
Applicable Requirements Summary ............................................................................................... 10 
New Source Review Authorization References ............................................................................. 14 


Appendix A .................................................................................................................................................. 17 
Acronym List .................................................................................................................................. 18 


 







 
Revised- Draft Page 1 


 


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
observation.  For outdoor locations, the observer shall select a posit ion 
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
(See Special Term 
and Condition 1.B.) 


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


A vent gas stream 
specified in § 
115.121(a)(1) of this title 
with a concentration of 
VOC < 612 ppmv is 
exempt from § 
115.121(a)(1). 


[G]§ 115.125 
§ 115.126(2) 


§ 115.126 
§ 115.126(2) 
§ 115.126(4) 


None 


GRPEU02 EU R5217-1 VOC 30 TAC Chapter 
115, Loading and 
Unloading of VOC 


§ 115.217(a)(1) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(B) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(D) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(D)(i) 


Vapor pressure (at land-
based operations).  All 
land-based loading and 
unloading of VOC with a 
true vapor pressure less 
than 0.5 psia is exempt 
from the requirements of 
this division, except as 
specified. 


§ 115.214(a)(1)(A) 
§ 115.214(a)(1)(A)(i) 
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
1.5 psia is exempt from 
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


Existing facilities must 
meet the annual average 
organic HAP emissions 
limits in Table 3 to this 
subpart and the work 
practice standards in 
Table 4 to this subpart as 


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


applicable. § 63.5850(f) 
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


Authorization No.:  9519 Issuance Date:  09/14/2018 


Permits By Rule (30 TAC Chapter 106) for the Application Area 


Number:  106.262 Version No./Date:  11/01/2003 


Number:  106.433 Version No./Date:  09/04/2000 


 
 


Commented [RS1]: Authorization No. 174908 
Issuance Date: 10/07/2024 
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


01001 A10 RESIN STORAGE TANK 1 - STACK 10/11 9519 


01010 A10 RESIN STORAGE TANKS 2 - STACK 10/11 9519 


CONC ROTARY ZEOLITE CONCENTRATOR 9519 


INCIN A4 INCINERATOR 9519 


PROCESS PROCESS 9519 


**This column may include Permit by Rule (PBR) numbers and version dates, PBR Registration numbers in brackets, Standard Permit Registration numbers, 
Minor NSR permit numbers, and Major NSR permit numbers. 
 


Commented [RS2]: 174908 
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Acronym List ............................................................................................................................................. 18 
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
Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2024 11:43 AM 
To: rogersmith@laytonee.com 
Subject: Technical Review -- FOP O1063/Project 37277, Aquatics Inc./Aquatic 


 
Mr. Smith, 


 


I have been assigned to the Federal Operating Permit (FOP) revision application of Permit 


No. O1063 for Aquatics Inc., Aquatic. This application has been assigned Project No. 37277. 


Please address all correspondence pertaining to this permit application, including any updates, to 


me at the address below, and use both the Permit and Project reference numbers above to 


facilitate tracking. 


  


In addition, I wanted to let you know that EPA has, on occasion, objected to Title V permits 


based on the following:  


a.    NSR permit and PBR monitoring sufficiency –please refer to our periodic 


monitoring guidance for reference of monitoring that EPA has, so far, considered 


sufficient. 


b.    Reference to confidential business information (CBI) in NSR permits and PBR 


submittals. 


c.    High level terms in the SOP Applicable Requirement Summary Table. The high-


level terms are sometimes used in SOPs when unit attribute forms have not yet 


been updated due to regulatory amendments. 


d.    Accuracy of PBR information provided on the supplemental table and in the 


permit – please refer to Forms OP-PBRSUP and OP-REQ1 Instructions. 


If you have any questions or concerns on any of these items or think you need to do any 


additional updates, let me know and we can discuss further. 


  


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


application updates must be submitted to EPA Region 6 at R6AirPermitsTX@epa.gov and 


to the TCEQ regional office having jurisdiction. This submittal information can be found 


on our website at Where to Submit FOP Applications and Permit-Related Documents. 


   


 


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





From: Johnny Bowers
To: Rosa Mora-Nichols
Subject: FW: STEERS Title V Application Submittal (New Application)
Date: Friday, October 18, 2024 7:29:34 AM


Please process. Thanks!


-----Original Message-----
From: steers@tceq.texas.gov <steers@tceq.texas.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, October 16, 2024 10:43 AM
To: RFCAIR4 <RFCAIR4@tceq.texas.gov>; TVAPPS <tvapps@tceq.texas.gov>
Subject: STEERS Title V Application Submittal (New Application)


The TV-E application has been successfully submitted by Tom Star. The submittal was received at 10/16/2024
10:43 AM.


 The Reference number for this submittal is 689693


 The confirmation number for this submittal is 571834.
 The Area ID for this submittal is 1063.
 The Project ID for this submittal is 37277.
The hash code for this submittal is
3C044CF11B0A194362A25E9A9DA928FDBBF241051CF4AA171C06198FC830148E.


 You may access the original application submittal and the notice of final action documents from the COR Viewer
which is available at https://ida.tceq.texas.gov/steersstaff/index.cfm?
fuseaction=openadmin.submitlog&newsearch=yes.


 If you have any questions, please contact the STEERS Help Line at 512-239-6925 or by e-mail at
steers@tceq.texas.gov.



mailto:Johnny.Bowers@tceq.texas.gov

mailto:Rosa.Mora-Nichols@tceq.texas.gov

https://ida.tceq.texas.gov/steersstaff/index.cfm?fuseaction=openadmin.submitlog&newsearch=yes

https://ida.tceq.texas.gov/steersstaff/index.cfm?fuseaction=openadmin.submitlog&newsearch=yes





TCEQ-10017 (APD-ID156v2.0, Revised 07/22) Form OP-REQ2 - Negative Applicable/Superseded Requirement 
Determinations This form for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and  
may be revised periodically (Title V Release 10/07) Page ______ of ______


Form OP-REQ2 
Negative Applicable/Superseded Requirement Determinations 


Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 


Date Permit No. Regulated Entity No. 


Unit AI Revision No. 
Unit/Group/Process 


ID No. 
Unit/Group/Process 


Applicable Form 
Potentially Applicable 


Regulatory Name 


Negative 
Applicability/Superseded


Requirement Citation 
Negative Applicability/Superseded 


Requirement Reason 


10/03/2024 O-1063      100219104


D                      1                           INCIN                          OP-UA35                           111.121(6)                                  111.121(6)                               requirement never should have been 
included in the FOP - there is no 
burning of domestic, municipal, 
commercial, or industrial solid waste in 
the incinerator; moreover, quarterly VE 
periodic monitoring for the incinerator 
for compliance with 30 TAC 111, 
Subchapter A, Division 1 was already 
covered under Special Term and 
Condition 3.A. in the FOP







 


  
 


   


 
 


 


 


 


  


         


  


     


  


      


  


   


   


  


  


       


     


  


Federal  Operating Permit Program  
Application for  Permit  Revision/Renewal  


Form OP-2-Table  1  
Texas  Commission on  Environmental  Quality  


Date: 


Permit No.: 


Regulated Entity No.: 


Company Name: 


For Submissions to EPA 


Has an electronic copy of this application been submitted (or is being submitted) to EPA? YES NO 


I. Application Type 


Indicate the type of application: 


Renewal 


Streamlined Revision (Must include provisional terms and conditions as explained in the instructions.) 


Significant Revision 


Revision Requesting Prior Approval 


Administrative Revision 


Response to Reopening 


II. Qualification Statement 


For SOP Revisions Only YES NO 


For GOP Revisions Only YES NO 


TCEQ-10059 (APDG 5722v26, revised 03/22) OP-2 
This form is for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and 
may be revised periodically. (Title V release 03/10) Page _____ of _______ 







  
 


  


     


         
   


              


 


  


         


 


     
  


Federal  Operating Permit Program  
Application for  Permit  Revision/Renewal  


Form OP-2-Table  1  (continued)  
Texas  Commission on  Environmental  Quality  


III. Major Source Pollutants (Complete this section if the permit revision is due to a change at the site or change in regulations.) 


Indicate all pollutants for which the site is a major source based on the site’s potential to emit: 
(Check the appropriate box[es].) 


VOC NOX SO2 PM10 CO Pb HAP 


Other: 


IV. Reference Only Requirements (For reference only) 


Has the applicant paid emissions fees for the most recent agency fiscal year (September 1 - August 31)? YES NO N/A 


V. Delinquent Fees and Penalties 


Notice: This form will not be processed until all delinquent fees and/or penalties owed to the TCEQ or the Office of the Attorney General on behalf 
of the TCEQ are paid in accordance with the Delinquent Fee and penalty protocol. 


TCEQ-10059 (APDG 5722v26, revised 03/22) OP-2 
This form is for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and 
may be revised periodically. (Title V release 03/10) Page _____ of ______ 







  
 


  


 


 


 


 


 


  


     
 


 
 


 


Federal  Operating Permit  Program  
Application for  Permit  Revision/Renewal  


Form OP-2-Table  2  
Texas  Commission on  Environmental  Quality  


Date: 


Permit No.: 


Regulated Entity No.: 


Company Name: 


Using the table below, provide a description of the revision. 


Unit/Group Process 


Revision No. Revision Code New Unit ID No. Applicable Form 
NSR 


Authorization 
Description of Change and Provisional 
Terms and Conditions 


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


Form OP-2-Table  3  
Texas  Commission on  Environmental  Quality  


Date: 


Permit No.: 


Regulated Entity No.: 


Company Name: 


I. Significant Revision (Complete this section if you are submitting a significant revision application or a renewal application that includes a 
significant revision.) 


A. Is the site subject to bilingual requirements pursuant to 30 TAC § 122.322? YES NO 


B. Indicate the alternate language(s) in which public notice is required: 


C. Will, there be a change in air pollutant emissions as a result of the significant revision? YES NO 


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


Using the table below, indicate the air pollutant(s) that will be changing and include a brief description of the change in pollutant emissions for each 
pollutant: 


Pollutant Description of the Change in Pollutant Emissions 


TCEQ-10059 (APDG 5722v26, revised 03/22) OP-2 
This form is for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and 
may be revised periodically. (Title V release 03/10) Page _____ of ______ 
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Form OP-CRO1 
Certification by Responsible Official 
Federal Operating Permit Program 


Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 


All initial issuance, revision, renewal, and reopening permit application submittals requiring certification must be 
addressed using this form. Updates to site operating permit (SOP) and temporary operating permit (TOP) applications, 
other than public notice verification materials, must be certified prior to authorization of public notice or start of public 
announcement. Updates to general operating permit (GOP) applications must be certified prior to receiving an 
authorization to operate under a GOP. 


I. Identifying Information


RN: 


CN: 


Account No.: 


Permit No.: 


Project No.: 


Area Name: 


Company Name: 


II. Certification Type (Please mark appropriate box)


Responsible Official Representative Duly Authorized


III. Submittal Type (Please mark appropriate box) (Only one response can be accepted per form)


 SOP/TOP Initial Permit Application Permit Revision, Renewal, or Reopening 


 GOP Initial Permit Application Update to Permit Application


Other: 


TCEQ-10009 (APD-ID 270v1, Revised 06/24) OP-CRO1 
This form is for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and 
may be revised periodically. (Title V Release 06/24) Page ____ of ____ 


certification of working draft permit (WDP) comments







Form OP-CRO1 
Certification by Responsible Official 
Federal Operating Permit Program 


Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 


IV. Certification of Truth


This certification does not extend to information which is designated by TCEQ as information for reference only. 


I, certify that I am the 


(Certifier Name printed or typed) (RO or DAR) 


and that, based on information and belief formed after reasonable inquiry, the statements and information dated during 
the time period or on the specific date(s) below, are true, accurate, and complete: 
Note: Enter Either a Time Period or Specific Date(s) for each certification. This section must be completed. The 
certification is not valid without documentation date(s). 


Time Period: From to 


(Start Date) (End Date) 


Specific Dates: 


(Date 1) (Date 2) (Date 3) (Date 4) 


(Date 5) (Date 6) 


Signature:  Signature Date: 


Title: 


TCEQ-10009 (APD-ID 270v1, Revised 06/24) OP-CRO1 
This form is for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and may be revised periodically. (Title V Release 06/24) Page ______ of _____ 


Tom Star (Dec 23, 2024 08:54 EST)
Tom Star 12/23/2024


12/23/2024







202412_OP-CRO1_O-1063 WDP comments
Final Audit Report 2024-12-23


Created: 2024-12-20


By: Roger Smith (rogersmith@laytonee.com)


Status: Signed
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


1            2







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


2              2


Tom Star (Oct 4, 2024 08:58 EDT)
Tom Star


10/04/2024


10/04/2024







Federal Operating Permit Program 
Application for Permit Revision/Renewal 


Form OP-2-Table 1 
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


1             4







Federal Operating Permit Program 
Application for Permit Revision/Renewal 


Form OP-2-Table 1 (continued) 
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


2           4







Federal Operating Permit Program 
Application for Permit Revision/Renewal 


Form OP-2-Table 2 
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
Description of hange and Provisional 
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


3            4







Federal Operating Permit Program 
Application for Permit Revision/Renewal 


Form OP-2-Table 3 
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


4            4







TCEQ-10017 (APD 15 v2.0, Revised 07/22) Form OP-REQ2 - 
This form for use by facilities subject to air quality permit requirements and  


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


10/03/2024 O-1063 100219104


D  1  INCIN  OP-UA35  111.121(6)  111.121(6)                   requirement never should have been 
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


1                1
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